# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS THE STATE OF MISS!

# **CHRISTOPHER JASON BURROUGH**

VS.

SUPREME COURT CAUSE NO. 2008-75-00034-SCT

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

**APPELLEE** 

**BRIEF FOR APPELLANT** 

FILED

AUG 1 1 2008

OFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPREME COURT COURT OF APPEALS

BY:

Christopher Jason Burrough, #120707 Holmes-Humphreys Regional Facility

23234 Highway 12 East Lexington MS 39095



IN THE COURT OF APPEALS THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

**CHRISTOPHER JASON BURROUGH** 

**APPELLANT** 

VS.

SUPREME COURT CAUSE NO. 2008-TS-00034-SCT

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

**APPELLEE** 

**BRIEF FOR APPELLANT** 

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

### STATEMENT OF ISSUES

#### **ISSUE ONE**

Appellant Christopher Burrough was denied due process of law where he was convicted of the offense of a felony crime of Burglary of a Dwelling House by enter a plea guilty before the court, based upon his signed "Petition to Enter Plea of Guilty", by which the court failed to consider the factual basis for and why Appellant Burrough decided to enter a plea of guilty, and defense count was ineffective for failure to object.

ISSUE TWO

Appellant Burrough was subjected to a denial of due process of law where the trial court failed to advise Burrough of the correct law in regards to appealing a sentence rendered upon a plea of guilty to the Supreme Court. Appellant Burrough Burrough was never told that, under applicable law, his sentence could be appealed to the Supreme Court for direct, and defense counsel was ineffective for failure to bring this error to the court's attention.

# **ISSUE THREE**

Appellant Burrough would assert that the trial court violated due process of law when trial court increased the sentence and rejected the plea recommendation after

Court had initially sentenced Appellant Burrough under the mistaken belief that there was no plea agreement and recommendation. Trial Court should have sentenced Appellant Burrough to the recommended sentence or allowed the plea to be withdrawn before proceeding to impose a more lengthy sentence then that which the state had recommended in exchange for the guilty plea, and counsel was ineffective for failure to object.

## **ISSUE FOUR**

Appellant Burrough would assert that cumulative error require that this case be reversed.

#### STATEMENT OF INCARCERATION

The Appellant is presently incarcerated and is being housed in the Mississippi Department of Corrections in service of a 25 year prison term imposed by the trial court on two separate convictions and sentences. Appellant has been continuously confined since the date of sentencing.

#### STATEMENT OF CASE

Christopher Burrough was sentenced by the Circuit Court of Carroll County, Mississippi, on November 17, 2006, to a term of twenty-five (25) years imprisonment, Such sentence was imposed by the court upon hearsay testimony offered by the State of Mississippi from a deputy sheriff of Grenada County, Mississippi. In bringing such hearsay testimony to the Court to secure a greater sentence then the state had already negotiated the plea agreement for, the State actually breached it's agreement with the Appellant and acted against a deal which had already been reached. The state should

have had no standing to prosecute or seek any sentence greater then the sentence already recommended since Appellant had entered his plea of guilty on the basis of such agreement. The trial Court erred in allowing the state to proceed in this manner and in rejecting the agreement already in place on the basis of such improper evidence and actions by the State of Mississippi.

In regards to the post conviction motion, which is on appeal by this case, the trial court never addressed any claim presented in the motion and specifically stated that the motion had no merit and should be denied. This Court should find that such actions constitute a ruling on the merits of every claim and issue presented. The trial court should have conducted an evidentiary hearing.

The trial court never found, as a fact, that Appellant was guilty of violating any condition which it had set and that the state had actually proved any such violation.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

On April 18, 2006 a criminal indictment was filed against. Appellant. Burrough charging him with the criminal offense of burglary of a dwelling house in the County First. Judicial District of Carroll County, Mississippi, under Criminal Cause No. 2006-0007CR1. Honorable Ray Baum of the Carroll County Public Defender Office of Winona, Mississippi was appointed to represent Appellant. Burrough in this case where Mr. Baum negotiated an agreement with the prosecutor, Mr. Hill, that a plea of guilty would be entered to the charge of Burglary of a Dwelling House with a recommendation of 10 years, with five (5) years to serve in the MDOC, and five (5) years to serve on post release supervision, to run concurrently with time given on the Auto Burglary

charge, which Burrough was indicted for in Grenada County, Mississippi on May 10, 2006.

That Appellant Burrough entered the plea of guilty with the understanding and belief that he would be sentenced to a term of 10 years with 5 year to serve, and serve 5 years on post release supervision, to run concurrently with the time give on the Auto Burglar charge, which he was indicted for in Grenada County, Mississippi on May 10, 2006. On July 30, 2004, after Appellant Burrough had pleaded guilty, on May 17, 2006, the trial court imposed a 25 year sentence on the Burglary of Dwelling House as charged in the indictment, without giving Appellant Burrough an opportunity to withdraw his plea of guilty, and proceed to trial by a jury, and without considering a sentence of 5 years post release supervision. Furtherm the trial court never considered imposing 25 years concurrently with Burglary of an Automobile charge, which Burrough was indicted for in Grenada County, Mississippi on May 10, 2006.

That before sentencing, the Court stated that Burrough was a habitual thief and a habitual criminal.<sup>1</sup> That the trial court indicated that the court rejected the plea agreement on the basis that Burrough failed to appear at sentencing on May 15, 2006, and because on the night of May 15, 2006, he was arrested for attempting to commit a crime. That the trial court never attempted to allow Appellant Burrough the opportunity to withdrawal his pleas of guilty after the court found that there was a plea agreement and the court would not and did not intend to adopt or follow the agreement and recommendation.<sup>2</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Burrough had not been indicted or charged as a habitual offender in eith case.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> That the trial court stated to Burrough that the Court would not accept the State's recommendation if Burrough did not appear on the 15th or if Burrough committed any crime while he was on bond before the 15th of May, 2006.

Upon the filing of the post conviction relief motion in this case the trial court denied relief without conducting an evidentiary hearing or requiring the state of Mississippi to file an answer to the well pleaded facts and claims set out in the PCR motion.

# **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

In reviewing a trial court's decision to deny a motion for post-conviction relief the standard of review is clear. The trial court's denial will not be reversed absent a finding that the trial court's decision was clearly erroneous. <u>Kirksey v State</u>, 728 So.2d 565, 567 (Miss. 1999).

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

The trial court erred in finding that the claims in the PCR was without merit where court did not conduct as evidentiary hearing.

# LEGAL ARGUMENT IN SUPPORT OF CLAIMS FOR RELIEF

The Mississippi Supreme Court has long recognized that the courts of the State of Mississippi are open to those incarcerated at Mississippi Correctional facilities and Institutions raising questions regarding the voluntariness to their pleas of guilty to criminal offenses or the duration of confinement. Hill v. State, 388 So.2d 143, 146 (Miss. 1980); Watts v. Lucas, 394 So.2d 903 (Miss. 1981); Ball v. State, 437 So.2d 423, 425 (Miss. 1983); Tiller v. State, 440 So.2d 1001, 1004-05 (Miss. 1983).

### **ARGUMENT**

A.

The trial Court erred in failing to find that Appellant
Burrough was denied due process of law where he was convicted
of the offense of a felony crime of Burglary of a Dwelling House
by entry a plea guilty before the court, based upon his signed
"Petition to Enter Plea of Guilty", by which the court failed to
consider the factual basis for and why defendant Burrough
decided to enter a plea of guilty, and defense counsel was
ineffective for failure to object.

Under URCCC 8.04(A)(3), "before the trial court may accept a plea of guilty, the court must determine that the plea is voluntarily and intelligently made and that there is factual basis for the plea." In <u>Corley v. State</u>, 585 So.2d 765, 767 (Miss. 1991), the Supreme Court of Mississippi discussed Rule 3.03(2), Miss. Unif. Crim. R Cir. Ct. Pract. (1979, as amended), requiring that the trial court have before it "... substantial evidence that the accused did commit the legally defined offense to which he is offering the plea." <u>See</u>, e.g., <u>Brown v. State</u>, 533 So.2d 1118, 1124 (Miss. 1988); <u>Reynolds v.</u> State, 521 So.2d 914, 917 (Miss. 1988).

The Mississippi Supreme Court has long recognized that the courts of the State of Mississippi are open to those incarcerated at Mississippi Correctional facilities and Institutions raising questions regarding the voluntariness of their pleas of guilty to criminal offenses or the duration of confinement. Hill v. State, 388 So.2d 143, 146 (Miss.1980); Watts v. Lucas, 394 So.2d 903 (Miss. 1981); Ball v. State, 437 So.2d 423, 425 (Miss. 1983); Tiller v. State, 440 So.2d 1001, 1004-05 (Miss. 1983). This case represents one such instance.

The Mississippi Supreme Court has continuously recognized that a plea of guilty may be challenged for voluntariness by way of the Mississippi Uniform Post Conviction Collateral Relief Act.

В.

The trial Court erred in failing to find that Appellant was subjected to a denial of due process of law where the trial court failed to advise Burrough of the correct law in regards to appealing a sentence rendered upon a plea of guilty to the Supreme Court. Appellant Burrough was never told that, under applicable law, his sentence could be appealed to the Supreme Court for direct review where Court had rejected a previously approved and recommended sentence on the court's own motion, and defense counsel was ineffective for failure to bring this error to the court's attention.

The trial court failed to advise Christopher Jason Burrough that he had no right to appeal the actions of the Court in the sentence it arrived at in regards to the plea. Even upon a plea of guilty the law would allow Burrough a direct appeal of the sentence imposed. The trial court judge made fundamental error where the Court failed to advise Burrough of this avenue of review of the sentence in regards to the plea of guilty. The law is clear that a defendant who pleads guilty has a right to directly appeal the sentence to the Supreme Court. Trotter v. State, 554 So. 2d 313, 86 A.L.R.4th 327 (Miss. 1989).

The law supports the assertion here that the trial court was incorrect in it's failure provide Burrough with the information regarding appealing the sentence to the Supreme Court in view of the controversy surrounding the manner in which the court arrived at the sentence. A defendant is not barred from appealing by having pleaded

guilty. Neblett v. State, 75 Miss. 105, 21 So. 799 (1897); Jenkins v. State, 96 Miss. 461, 50 So. 495 (1909).

Thus, the trial court was clearly incorrect, as a matter of law, in advising Burrough that there was no right to appeal from the sentence. Petitioner's sentence should be vacated for further proceedings.

C.

The trial Court erred in failing to find that Appellant the court violated due process of law when the court increased the sentence and rejected the plea recommendation after Court had initially sentenced Appellant under the mistaken belief that there was no plea agreement and recommendation. Trial Court should have sentenced Appellant to the recommended sentence or allowed the plea to be withdrawn before proceeding to impose a more lengthy sentence then that which the state had recommend in exchange for the guilty plea, and counsel was ineffective for failure to object.

Appellant was subjected to a denial of due process of law where the trial court allowed Appellant to plead guilty on the belief and basis that a sentence of 10 years with the M.D.O.C., 5 years to serve, 5 years on post release supervision, with the time to run concurrent with the Auto Burglary charges which he was indicted for May 10, 2006 in Grenada County under Cause No. 2006-058CR. Instead the court imposed a 25 years sentence without allowing Appellant the opportunity to withdraw the plea when the state's recommendation of a 10 year sentence was the driving force behind the decision to plead guilty.

The law is clear that plea bargaining is encouraged. It is important to distinguish between an open or blind plea and a formal plea bargain. The former is simply an admission of guilt by the defendant without the promise of any binding formal

sentencing recommendation by the State, Swindle v. State, 881 So.2d 174(¶ 4) (Miss. 2004). Presumably the defendant's own conscience, his need to repent, and his belief that the judge will be 'intrinsically fair are the factors that convince him to throw himself at the mercy of the court and hope for a sentence deserving of his particular indiscretion. While in the same jungle, a plea bargain is a different animal and driven by different motivations. Noel v. State, 943 So.2d 768 (Miss.App. 2006). Oft stated and widely known, a guilty plea must be voluntarily and intelligently made regardless of its type. URCCC 8.04 A(3). Also, the defendant must be competent to understand the nature of the charge, the consequences flowing from the plea, and those constitutional protections abandoned by pleading quilty. URCCC 8.04 A(4). As opposed to a blind plea, at least part of the allure of a plea bargain is the promised recommendation of the State and expectation of the defendant that the sentencing court will *honor that recommendation*. Noel v. State, 943 So.2d 768, 772 (Miss.App. 2006). The plea recommendation is poignantly shown in the record of this case.

While the Court in <u>Noel</u>, supra, rejected the claim that the trial court erred in failing to grant relief to the Appellant in his post conviction motion after the court had rejected the plea agreement and sentenced <u>Noel</u> to a more severe sentence, the decision in <u>Noel</u> is not decisive in this case since the facts are totally different. The Court in <u>Noel</u> sufficiently advised <u>Noel</u> that even where the state made a plea recommendation that the Court was bound by nor obligated to accept the agreement but may impose any sentence which the court deemed appropriate in accord with the range of sentence dictated by statute for the crime. In the instant case the Court not

only never told Appellant this information but the court were not even aware of the fact that it had to. The Court stated that it was under the impression that this was an open plea and rejected all assertions that it were not until a record was produced. The Court then reluctantly reduced three years from the sentence it had imposed when still made the sentence exceed the recommended term by five years.

Here, in the case now before this Court on appeal, during the guilty plea colloquy proceeding, the state recommended as following:

BY THE COURT: Do you want to go ahead for the record and make your recommendation?

BY MR. HILL:

I do, Your Honor.

BY THE COURT:

All right.

pay all court costs, fees and assessments associated with the case.

BY MR. HILL:

The State would recommend that the Defendant be

sentenced to serve a term of ten years in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections; provided, however, that after he has served five years in custody, that he be released on five years of post release supervision. In addition, the Defendant's property loss and damages amounted to \$2,853.00. We would ask that the Defendant be ordered to return to Mr. Terry Boynton restitution in the amount of \$2,853.00 and be ordered to

BY THE COURT:

Is that y'all 's understanding of what it would be?

BY MR. BAUM:

Your Honor, it is. In addition, we have agreed with the

District Attorney's Office that Mr. Burrough would plead to a bill of information for pending charges in Grenada County and that that would run concurrent with this charge.

BY THE COURT: Okay. I will postpone sentencing until May the 15th in Carrollton. You are out on bond right now?

BY THE DEFENDANT: Yes, sir.

BY THE COURT: Here is the deal. I'm going to leave you out on bond until the 15th. If you violate the law in any way between now and then, I'm not going to accept this recommendation, and I will just sentence you to whatever I think you ought to have.<sup>3</sup>

BY THE DEFENDANT: Yes, sir.

BY THE COURT: You don't -- be there by 10 o'clock on the 15th.

BY THE DEFENDANT: Yes, sir. Here?

BY THE COURT: No, in Carrollton. At the Courthouse in Carrollton. See Guilty Plea Transcript, page 8 - 9.

After Burrough failed to appear for sentencing, on the 17th day of May, 2006, the following accrued at the sentencing hearing, after establishing in the record that Burrough is a prior convicted felony for receiving stolen property in 1995:

BY MR. HILL: Your Honor, first of all, I would like to say for the record that on this past Monday, May the 15th, the Defendant, as the Court has noted, was supposed to appear. We called for the Defendant. He was not present. He had someone to call and advise the Court and counsel that he was on his way but had car trouble and could not come but that he would be here shortly. We waited all day, and he did not appear. Attempts to call the number back that he called from were unsuccessful, and nobody heard from him.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> It has not been proven in any court of law that Appellant violated the law but yet the trial court trippled the sentence on the basis of hearsay information of what it was believed Appellant had done.

After the Court issued the warrant at the end of May the 15th, law enforcement was notified, and they were looking for him. On the night of the 15th, Chief Deputy Spellman called me at home and advised me that they had located Mr. Burrough and that he was involved in criminal activity when they located him. He was at Bill Ashmore's Wrecker Service establishment on that Monday night, or on the night that he was arrested. And Mr. Bill Ashmore at my request is present to describe to the Court what he was doing." See Sentencing Transcript, page 3

After the court heard testimony of the alleged crime allegedly committed by Burrough and another on the night of May 15, 2006, the court proceeded with the sentencing as following:

BY THE COURT: Have you got anything?

BY MR. BAUM: No, sir. I do not.

BY THE COURT: Mr. Burrough, have you got anything?

BY THE DEFENDANT: (The Defendant shakes his head.)

BY THE COURT: Among other things I told Mr. Burrough on the day that he plead guilty was that if he didn't do what I told him to do, if he didn't show up and he violated the law again, that I was not going to accept the recommendation of the State. That was a true statement.

You have not been charged as a habitual offender, Mr. Burrough, but what you are is a habitual thief, a habitual criminal, and not a very smart one at that and we are not going to deal with you any more for a while. I sentence you to the maximum on this charge of twenty-five (25) years in the Mississippi Department of Corrections. And I order that he pay that restitution that was ordered that was, that y'all referenced --

BY MR. HILL: -- We described it for the record.

BY THE COURT: That you referenced to me. It was about \$2,500 to the man that he broke in on. Okay, that will be the sentence of the Court. You are remanded to the custody of the Sheriff. Have a seat over there. See Sentencing Transcript, page 9 - 10.

Here, it seem that the Court sentenced Burrough as a habitual offender without being charged as a habitual offender and without due process of law. The Court even failed to give Burrough the opportunity to withdraw his plea of guilty before sentencing. By doing so, the Court denied Burrough due process of law and equal protection of the law as afforded him under state and federal law.

If a trial court does not intend to follow the sentencing recommendation of a plea bargain, be it at the time of the guilty plea, at the conclusion of a sentencing hearing, or some time in between, justice requires the court to inform the defendant that the court intends to sentence him either more or less harshly than recommended by the State and to afford the defendant the opportunity to withdraw the guilty plea that was in part, if not wholly, induced by the expectation of a specific sentence. It is clear here that Appellant had an expectation of a certain amount of years, which he believed the Court was required to impose, since the record reflected that the court sentenced Burrough to a hasher sentence than was agreed upon in the petition to enter plea of guilty and as was agreed upon by the court after the State made it recommendation.

If a trial judge does not intend to sentence the defendant in accordance with the recommendation accompanying the plea bargain, the judge should advise the

defendant of such intentions prior to accepting a guilty plea, or if already accepted, afford the defendant an opportunity to withdraw the guilty plea if they so chose. When confronted with the latter of the two pleas the court need only ensure that the defendant clearly and unequivocally understands that the prosecution is making no recommendation and that the defendant is at the mercy of the court. Never should the two be mixed, as would seem to have occurred in the present case.. These procedural protections are not unique. Several sister states and the federal counterpart have realized the fundamentally unfair position in which a defendant is placed when his "voluntary plea" is more in the form of a knowledgeable gamble and have rethought their positions on this issue. See Fed.R.Crim.Proc. (c); Cook v. State, 36 P.3d 710, 715, (Alaska Ct.App. 2001); Cal.Penal Code § 1192.5 (2006); State v. Littlejohn, 199 Conn. 631, 508 A.2d 1376, 1383 (1986); Orleman v. State, 527 So.2d 303, 304 (Fla. Dist.Ct.App. 1988); Fuller v. State, 159 Ga. App. 512, 284 S.E.2d 29, 30 (1981); State v. Barker, 476 N.W. 2d 624, 626 (Iowa Ct.App. 1991); Kennedy v. Commonwealth, 962 S.W. 2d 880, 882 (Ky.Ct.App. 1997); State v. Manchester, 545 So.2d 528, 529-530 (La. 1989); People v. Killebrew, 416 Mich. 189, 330 N.W. 2d. 334, 842-843 (1982); Hattemar v. State, 654 S.W.2d 652, 653 (Mo.Ct.App. 1983); State v. Marzolf, 79 N.J. 167, 398 A.2d 849, 860 (1979); Eller v. State, 92 N.W. 52, 582 P.2d 824, 826 (1978); Tex. Code Crim. Proc. art. 26.13 (2006). The federal rule which many state rules are patterned after, states, in part

<sup>5)</sup> Rejecting a Plea Agreement. If the court rejects a plea agreement containing provisions of the type specified in Rule 11(c)(1)(A) or (C), the court must do the following on the record and in open court (or, for good cause, in camera):

- (A) inform the parties that the court rejects the plea agreement;
- (B) advise the defendant personally that the court is not required to follow the plea agreement and give the defendant an opportunity to withdraw the plea; and
- (C) advise the defendant personally that if the plea is not withdrawn, the court may dispose of the case less favorably toward the defendant than the plea agreement contemplated.

Withdrawing a Guilty or Nolo Contendere Plea. (d) A defendant may withdraw plea of guilty or nolo contendere:

- (1) before the court accepts the plea, for any reason or no reason; or
- (2) after the court accepts the plea, but before it imposes sentence if:
- (A) the court rejects a plea agreement under Rule 11(c)(5); or
- (B) the defendant can show a fair and just reason for requesting the withdrawal. Fed.R.Crim.Proc. 11(c)(5).

See: Dissenting opinion in Noel v. State, 943 So.2d 768 (Miss.App. 2006).

Clearly, from the law and the facts of this case, as clearly see in the record and the attachments to this motion, this Court should grant the relief requested. Appellant should be resentenced to the term initially recommended by the state or, in the alternative, Burrough should be permitted to withdraw his pleas of guilty and start anew.

The trial judge, of course, had the discretion to reject the plea recommendation, even if the parties had been in complete agreement as to the terms. However, the judge should not have had the discretion, based upon the fact that Burrough had not been informed by the Court that the Court had discretion as to what sentence to impose, both to reject the recommendation and to not allow Burrough and in dependent on-the-record opportunity to withdraw his plea which was based on his reasonable belief that he would be sentenced in accordance with the state's

recommendation. <u>State v. Dixon</u>, 449 So.2d 463 (La. 1984); <u>State v. Thompson</u>, 412 So.2d 1218 (La. 1982).

The Mississippi Rules of Criminal Procedure does not sanction nor does it permit dishonesty, subterfuge, or capriciousness by a court to entrap a defendant in a deal by granting the court unilateral power to alter a plea bargain without affording the defendant the right to abandon his plea. Justice and Justice requires nothing less than fair play and honesty on the part of the court, Society cannot be harmed by withdrawal of the plea by the defendant as he is not set free but instead must proceed to run the gauntlet of a trial with the attendant risk of the maximum punishment prescribed by statute. Indeed, as noted by the case law set out in from Mississippi and other states, as well as the federal courts, slate is "wiped clean of the defective plea negotiations" and all involved are restored to "the status quo immediately after the indictment." Tabula rasa means beginning all over again as if the plea process had never occurred at all. A pernicious mischief would result to the entire system of jurisprudence should the court adopt a dangerous "ends — justifies — the — means" approach to plea bargaining by permitting a court to depart from fairness and to alter a negotiated plea recommendations sua sponte without allowing a defendant the right to withdraw his plea. No litary of incantations about whether a plea had been knowingly and voluntarily entered can camouflage the essential spirit of honesty and fair play that the rules of criminal procedure requires of all the players: the State of Mississippi, the criminal accused, and the court. In the case sub judice, the State of Mississippi and the defendant entered into a plea recommendations whereby the State of Mississippi agreed to recommend concurrent sentences for a sentence totaling 10 years' imprisonment. Without giving such recommendation even the attention of recognizing that it existed, the trial court elected to reject the State of Mississippi's recommendation and decided instead to increase the sentence to almost double as to that which had been recommended. Therefore, pursuant to the common law of fairness and the procedural protections in effect by the federal judicial system and other state's surrounding Mississippi, the trial court had a duty to permit the defendant to withdraw his pleas and to proceed to trial. This much the court repeatedly failed to do. The relief requested in this matter should be granted.

D.

## **CUMULATIVE ERROR**

The trial Court erred in failing to find that Appellant was subjected to cumulative error and that the cumulative effect of each acted to deprived Christopher Burrough of his constitutional rights to a fair trial, as guaranteed to him under the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution, and Article 3, Sections 14 and 26 of our Mississippi Constitution.

Rainer v. State, 473 So.2d 172, 174 (Miss. 1985); <u>Brooks v. State</u>, 445 So.2d 798, 814 (Miss. 1984). Bourrough's counsel was ineffective for failure to act or bring such violations to the court's attention.

In cases such as the one presented here, the Supreme Court has not hesitated in reversing other defendants convictions and ordering a new trial, for "(a) fair trial is, after all, the reasons we have our system of justice; it is a paramount distinction between free and totalitarian societies." <u>Johnson v. State</u>, 476 So.2d 1195 (Miss. 1985), cited with approval in <u>Fisher v. State</u>, 481 So.2d 283 (Miss. 1985).

"It is one of the crowning glories of our law that, no matter how guilty one may be, no matter how atrocious his crime, nor how certain his doom when brought to trial anywhere, he shall, nevertheless, have the same fair and impartial trial accorded to the most innocent defendant. Those safeguards crystallized into the constitution and laws of the land as the result of centuries of experience, must be, by the courts, sacredly upheld as well as in the case of the guiltiest as of the most innocent defendant answering at the bar of his country. And it ought to be a reflection always potent in the public mind, that where the crime is atrocious, condemnations is sure, when all these safeguards are accorded the defendant, and therefore the more atrocious the crime, the less need is there for any infringement of these safeguards."

Tennison v. State, 79 Miss. 708, 713, 31 So. 421, 422 (1902), cited and quoted with approval in Johnson v. State, supra.

The importance to which the Honorable Mississippi Supreme Court has jealously guarded an accused's right to a fair trial and fair judicial process is further reflected in Cruthirds v. State, 2 So.2d 154 (Miss. 1941)

"The storm of opposition, brute force and hate which is sweeping across a large part of the universe has levered to the ground the temple of justice in many countries, and even in our own it has been shaken and broken in places, yet we may fervently hope that when the storm shall have spent its fury there will remain undisputed, as one of the foundational pillars of that temple, the right of all men, whether rich or poor, strong or weak, guilty or innocent, to a fair trial, orderly and impartial trial in the courts of the land. Id. at 146.

The case sub judice falls within the perimeters of that described in <u>Scarbrough v.</u>
State, 37 So.2d 748 (Miss. 1948):

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