IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

CHRISTOPHER JASON BURROUGH

APPELLANT

VS.

NO. 2008-KP-0034-SCT

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: JEFFREY A. KLINGFUSS SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL MISSISSIPPI BAR NO.

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The grand jury of Carroll County indicted defendant, Christopher Jason Burrough for Burglary of a Dwelling House in violation of *Miss. Code Ann.* § 97-17-23. (Indictment, cp.17). Defendant, a previously convicted felon and no stranger to the criminal justice system, petitioned the court with to plead guilty. (Petition c.p. 35-40). On the 4th of May, 2006, defendant did, in open court, assisted by counsel plead guilty. The trial court found his plea to be freely, voluntarily and intelligently given with defendant openly admitting his guilt. (Judgement, c.p. 41). Sentencing was deferred and defendant was allowed to remain on bond. The day of sentencing came and defendant failed to show. A warrant was issued and when law enforcement found defendant he was caught in the act of theft. Alas, and not surprisingly, sentencing did not bode well for defendant and he got the max of 25 years, \$2,853 restitution, court costs, fees and assessments. (Judgment & Sentence order, c.p. 64).

Within the statutory period for such a filing defendant filed a motion for postconviction relief. Same was found to be without merit and denied by the trial court. (Order denying relief, c.p. 149).

It is from that denial of post-conviction that defendant now presents this instant appeal.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Defendant steals, is dishonest and gets caught. More than once.

-

.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Α.

IF THIS ALLEGATION OF ERROR WERE NOT PROCEDURALLY BARRED IT WOULD ALSO BE WITHOUT MERIT.

B.

THIS ALLEGATION OF ERROR IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED.

C.

THE TRIAL COURT DOES NOT HAVE TO FOLLOW ANY SENTENCE RECOMMENDATION.

D.

THERE IS NO CUMULATIVE ERROR.

ARGUMENT

A.

IF THIS ALLEGATION OF ERROR WERE NOT PROCEDURALLY BARRED IT WOULD ALSO BE WITHOUT MERIT.

In defendant's motion to vacate filed in the trial court he raised two issues for

consideration: 1) breach of the plea agreement; and 2) Disproportionate sentence.

Now for the first time on appeal he claims the court failed to consider the

factual basis for defendant pleading guilty and a collateral ineffective assistance of

counsel claim for failing to object.

Both of these claims are procedurally barred from review.

¶ 9. Edwards makes numerous assertions regarding his attorney's performance, all of which he claims amounted to ineffective assistance of counsel. However, we may only consider those that were presented to the trial court in his motion for post-conviction relief; the others are procedurally barred. Foster v. State, 716 So.2d 538, 540(9) (Miss.1998). For brevity's sake we will not list the voluminous assertions that are procedurally barred; we will only address the assertions that were presented to the trial court in Edwards's motion for post-conviction relief.

Edwards v. State, 2008 WL 3311843 (Miss.App. 2008).

Also, without waiving any procedural bar to review this issue is without merit

as the court specifically asked for a 'factual basis' to support the guilty plea. (Tr.6).

And on the very next page defendant admitted his guilt. (Tr.7). By the same token,

there would be no reason for the attorney to object.

This issue is procedurally barred and alternatively without merit in fact and law. Consequently no relief should be granted. *Harris v. State*, 2008 WL 3311848 (¶ 12)(Miss.App. 2008).

THIS ALLEGATION OF ERROR IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED.

In this allegation of error defendant now claims that the trial court did not

inform him at the guilty plea that he had the right to appeal the sentence imposed.

This issue was not presented to the trial court for consideration and is therefore

procedurally barred. *Edwards*, supra.

Without waiving any procedural bar to review this issue has recently been

addressed by the Mississippi Court of Appeals, to wit:

¶ 11. Lastly, still under the general heading of ineffective assistance of counsel. Cook argues that the trial court erred in informing him during the plea hearing that by pleading guilty he gave up the right to file a direct appeal of "the actions of the [c]ourt." Cook argues that the trial court failed to inform him that the *793 right to directly appeal his sentence would still be available regardless of his plea of guilty. Mississippi Code Annotated section 99-35-101 (Rev. 2007) provides that "[a]ny person convicted of an offense in a circuit court may appeal to the supreme court, provided, however, an appeal from the circuit court to the supreme court shall not be allowed in any case where the defendant enters a plea of guilty." Nevertheless, while a conviction from a plea of guilty may not be directly appealed, a defendant may directly appeal the sentence given as a result of that plea. Trotter v. State, 554 So.2d 313, 315 (Miss. 1989). FN2 However, a trial court is not required to inform a defendant who pleads guilty of his right to appeal the resultant sentence. Coleman v. State, 979 So.2d 731, 733(¶ 6) (Miss.Ct.App.2008). Thus, this issue is without merit.

Cook v. State, 990 So.2d 788, 792 -793 (Miss.App. 2008).

Accordingly, the State would ask the above rationale be followed in alternatively denying any relief based on this allegation of trial court error.

.

.

-

THE TRIAL COURT DOES NOT HAVE TO FOLLOW ANY SENTENCE RECOMMENDATION.

Defendant now complains the trial court violated his due process rights when

the judge increased the sentence and did not follow the recommendation.

The transcript is quite informative on this point on page seven the Judge quite

bluntly (and correctly) informed the defendant that the judge did not have to accept

a recommendation and may impose ANY sentence the law allows. And the defendant

understood. (Tr.7). Vance v. State, 799 So.2d 100 (Miss.App. 2001).

Interestingly, it would appear there was another sentencing option offered to

defendant – which he accepted. To be found on page nine of the plea colloquy.

By the Court: Here is the deal. I'm going to leave you out on bond until the 15th. If you violate the law in any way between now and then, I'm not going to accept this recommendation, and I will just sentence you to whatever I think you ought to have.

By the Defendant: Yes, Sir.

By the Court: If you do not appear on the 15th, the same thing applies. Do you understand.

By the Defendant: Yes Sir.

What is really interesting is the Court set two conditions and defendant fulfilled both. (Tr. 10-18). Yeah, defendant made those decisions himself and cannot now complain. There is not merit to this allegation of error and no relief should be granted.

.

To just state it bluntly, defendant's counsel exhibited not one act of deficient

performance. Consequently, defendant fails on both prongs of Strickland.

Now, as to the 'cumulative error' claim, there is not a whit to support it.

¶ 50. Busick maintains that, even if no single error mandates our reversal of his conviction, the combined effect of all the errors warrants reversal. This issue is without merit. None of Busick's assignments of error are meritorious and, therefore, there is no basis for reversal for cumulative error. Coleman v. State, 697 So.2d 777, 787 (Miss.1997).

Busick v. State, 906 So.2d 846 (Miss.App. 2005).

Absolutely no relief should be granted on this last collection of claimed errors.

CONCLUSION

Based upon the arguments presented herein as supported by the record on appeal the State would ask this reviewing court to affirm the trial court denial of postconviction relief.